ANNIVERSARY MEETING

Minutes of the Anniversary Meeting of The Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, held at 4.00pm, in the Lecture Theatre of the Royal Museum of Scotland, on *Thursday 30 November 1995*, Mr Gordon Maxwell, MA FSA, President, in the Chair.

Apologies had been received from a number of Fellows. The Minutes of the last Meeting were read and approved. The Scrutineers for the ballots for office-bearers and Fellows, Mr P Yeoman and Mrs V Dean, were appointed and the ballots were closed.

The Director then read the following:

ANNUAL REPORT

Membership

The Fellowship of the Society now stands at 2963. In the past year 196 Fellows have taken up election, or been reinstated; 30 names have been removed from the Roll due to death, and 67 through lapse of subscription or resignation. There are, at present, 23 Honorary Fellows.

Meetings

The Society has held the usual varied programme of activities through the year. Nine lecture meetings were held between December 1994 and November 1995. The session included two open lectures, the Public Lecture, given by the President, *Map-making in Roman Scotland*, and *Scotland in the Little Ice Age: the Science and the Poetry*, the Society's contribution to the Edinburgh International Science Festival by Dr Ian Morrison; this was delivered, due to its author's illness, by the President. Both lectures attracted large audiences.

The six Rhind Lectures, 'Enlarging the Past: the contribution of Wetland Archaeology', took place in March, when for the first time they were delivered by joint Rhind Lecturers, Professor John Coles and Bryony Coles. Fellows will be pleased to know that these will be published, in 1996, as a Society Monograph.

A Day Seminar, organized jointly with Historic Scotland, *Research on the Antonine Wall*, was held in May. The Society is most grateful to Historic Scotland for their financial and organizational assistance, and particular thanks are due to Dr Richard Hingley for his major organizational role.

The 1995 Conference, Archaeological Research in Progress 1995, was held in May, and attracted what must now be considered a customarily large audience. The Society was pleased to be able to host such a conference, which not only attracted speakers and members of the audience from all over Britain, but highlighted the significant and active research being carried out in Scotland at a time when research excavation is becoming increasingly curtailed in the rest of Britain. The Society was also pleased to have provided, through research grants, funding towards several of the projects featured. The concept of the Research in Progress Conferences has been so appreciated by all involved in archaeology that it has been decided that they should be held annually, under the joint auspices of the Society and CSA, each body taking on the organization in alternate years. Accordingly, the 1996 event will be organized by CSA and will be held outside Edinburgh.

A Day Seminar was held in November, in the Glasite Meeting House, in association with Historic Scotland, on the work of the Sheffield University SEARCH programme: Ancient Landscapes in the Outer Hebrides.

Buchan Lectures took place this year, in March, in Ayr, as part of the John Smith centenary symposium when John Hume lectured on 'John Smith; the man and his times', and in October, in Fraserburgh, as part of the University of Aberdeen Quincentenary, when Dr Anna Ritchie lectured on 'The Picts: myth or reality'.

In June an Excursion was arranged for Fellows to the Carse of Gowrie, to investigate clay-based buildings. We are most grateful to Dr Bruce Walker, of Historic Scotland, for conducting an appreciative group of Fellows to various sites, including the National Trust for Scotland's restoration project at the Old Schoolhouse at Cottown, where Fellows enjoyed a hands-on demonstration of mud-brick making; disappointingly, only a few accepted the invitation to participate in this particularly enjoyable activity. Among other sites visited were Flatfield, courtesy of Mr & Mrs Angus, and Megginch Castle, courtesy of Lady Strange. At Megginch, in addition to the early brick buildings, Fellows were puzzled by a previously unrecorded Early Medieval cross until it was revealed to be a mock-up installed during the filming of Rob Roy. The wide range of sites visited on this Excursion revealed the importance and widespread use of clay as a permanent and durable building material that has undoubtedly been ignored, or at least, not fully appreciated in the Scottish archaeological record.

The North-east Section Annual Report

October 1994-September 1995

The Section held nine meetings with the same programme as in Edinburgh. In addition, following the Section's AGM, Judith Stones spoke about recent archaeological work in Aberdeen. The 25th Anniversary of the Section was celebrated after the October meeting. Summer excursions were arranged to Balnagowan, sites in Angus, the excavations at the Clava Cairns and sites in Banff and Buchan. The lectures were well attended and membership of the section stands at 266.

The committee for 1994-5 was: Elizabeth Curtis (Chairman), Paul Pillath (Vice-Chairman), Neil Curtis (Secretary), John Cruse (Treasurer), Frank Donnelly, Anne Johnston, Margaret Jubb, Aidan Mulkerrin, Graham Steele, and Archie Watt.

Research Grants

In accordance with Law 1 - 'The purpose of the Society shall be the Study of the ANTIQUITIES AND HISTORY OF SCOTLAND, more particularly by means of archaeological research' - the grant-aiding of research is increasingly one of the most important parts of the work of the Society. At a time when traditional sources of provision for excavation have lessened with the move to developer funding, research excavation, and other research projects, now relies heavily on bodies such as ourselves.

The following grants were approved from the General Research Fund (including investment income from the Dorothy Marshall Bequest):

to D L Alexander for aspects of preparation for publication of Renfrew in Prehistory; to B L Andrian for the Isle of Skye Coastal Survey, Rubh' an Dunain; to Dr I Armit for work on Eilean Olabhat; to G Barclay for work at the Cleaven Dyke; to Dr C Batey for the Norse Horizontal Mill, Orphir, Orkney; to P Begg (CSA) towards Discovery and Excavation 1995; to Prof R Bradley for work at Balnuaran of Clava; to Prof K Branigan for the SEARCH project; to C G P Burgess for the Garenin Landscape Project; to T Cowie & B O'Connor for illustrations of bronzes from Blair Drummond Moss; to K S Forsyth for work on Orkney ogham-inscribed stones; to Aase Goldsmith for translation of Worsaae journals; to Dr R I MacLeod & T Cowie for the facial reconstruction of the Cnip Bronze Age skull; to K McComiskie for the Lochindorb Project; to Edinburgh Archaeological Field Society, per K Mitchell, for work on the Fast Castle Excavations 1971-86; to The Pictish Arts Society, per E Nicoll, for computerization of the Pictish Bibliography; to A J Pollard for the Risga Island Project; to Dr C C Richards for the Cuween - Wideford Hill Landscape Project; to Dr J S Thomas for the Picts' Knowe excavation; to The National Trust for Scotland, per B R Turner, for the Ben Lawers Historic Land-use Survey; to Dr D J Woolliscroft for Garnhall, postexcavation environmental work; to Dr D J Woolliscroft for excavation at Greenloaning with further funding from the MacDonald Fund; to P A Yeoman for the Isle of May: interpreting the Historic Environment.

From the Angus Graham Bequest: to M H Swain for publication of a colour plate of the Lochleven & Linlithgow Hangings, in the Proceedings.

From the George MacDonald Bequest: to Dr D J Woolliscroft for excavations at Greenloaning.

The Gunning Jubilee Gift for 1995 was awarded to Mr G Cruickshank towards the cost of his visits to Sarawak and Holland to further his research into Scottish pottery exports to the Far East.

The Young Fellows Bursary for 1995 was awarded to Dr E E C Nicholson to give a paper on 'Images and artefacts: the material culture of Jacobitism in Scotland and England, 1688–1788', at the 18th-century Scottish Studies Society Conference.

The Chalmers Jervise Prize: no award was made.

Publications

The *Proceedings: Volume 123* was posted to Fellows in November 1994 and Volume 124, published today, will be posted out to Fellows next week.

The Editor, Mr Humphrey Welfare, as ever, deserves the thanks of Fellows for undertaking the daunting task of tirelessly and meticulously editing the large number of papers appearing in the *Proceedings* and, through his assiduous work, keeping the costs of producing this major publication to a minimum. Those who have had papers published will be aware of the several stages involved in the process and consequent correspondence required between the Editor and themselves.

Monograph Series. Monograph 9 – Howe: four millennia of Orkney prehistory was published in November 1994 and Monograph 10, Jedburgh; the archaeology of a Border Abbey, earlier this month. In the forthcoming session, Monographs on Enlarging the Past: the contribution of Wetland Archaeology by John and Bryony Coles – the 1995 Rhind Lectures – supported by the Society and WARP, and Edinburgh Castle, grant-aided by Historic Scotland, will be published. The Series Editor, Mrs Alexandra Shepherd, must be thanked for her unstinting work.

Newsletter. Two issues of this were produced and circulated in February and September. As usual these included articles on topics reflecting the various activities of the Society and items of interest to Fellows, as well as appeals to Fellows for help and assistance of various kinds.

The Work of The Society

With the large number of Fellows, the administration of Fellowship affairs, including correspondence and subscription matters and programme organization, can be time-consuming, but the Society is highly active in the heritage field and, as Fellows will be aware from previous Annual Reports, we are consulted on archaeological issues by a wide variety of organizations. We continue to be represented on a large number of bodies: The Ancient Monuments Board for Scotland; the National Trust for Scotland; the Council for British Archaeology; the Council for Scottish Archaeology; the Traprain Law Management Group; the Scottish Field School; the Scottish Wildlife and Countryside Link; Scottish Archaeological Link; the Association for the Protection of Rural Scotland; the National Committee on Carved Stones; the Mouswald Trust; the Dalrymple Trust; the User Panel of The Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Scotland; the Portable Antiquities Working Group, and, through the President, in the organization of country-wide support for learned societies at the British Academy.

This aspect of the Society's work requires a broad range of expertise and the Society is grateful to the members of Council, the Committees, and the other representatives who work hard to assist the Director in these matters, in particular to the President and Treasurer, the other Office Bearers and the Conveners of the Committees.

The Society, in association with other bodies, notably the CSA, has also been active in attempting to safeguard the future of local government archaeological services following local government re-organization.

The importance of the Society's archival material is being increasingly appreciated and the Director has been co-ordinating fund-raising for the conservation of Volumes 1 & 2 of the William Smellie manuscripts and letters held in the Library; we are delighted to inform Fellows that we have achieved the first of our goals, that of raising the funds for Phase 1, the conservation of the letters. Work has already started on this and should be completed by June 1996. The Society has directly funded some of the work, but the bulk of

the funding has come from outside sources: we are most grateful to the National Museums of Scotland Charitable Trust and Library Services; to the Russell Trust and The Pilgrim Trust, for their generous grants towards the project. As Fellows were previously informed, it is intended, once the letters are conserved, to have copies made, in a suitable medium, and the originals re-bound.

The Society is moving to appoint a temporary archivist/researcher to produce a detailed catalogue of Society ephemera, of related artefacts such as stamps and seals and other archival material, as well as Society legal documents relevant to and closely linked to the National Museums collections.

It had been hoped to exhibit to Fellows tonight the alternative designs for the stained glass window for the Founder's Room in the New Museum, but regrettably, due to delays entirely outwith the Society's control, this has not proved possible.

The move to Chambers Street

In late 1996 or early 1997 the Society will be moving to Chambers Street and we are delighted that we have been allocated extremely spacious accommodation in the NMS Director's former offices. This will allow us to hold some of the smaller Committee meetings in our own rooms, as well as to have on display some of the Society's memorabilia such as seals, ballot boxes etc. Inevitably, the move will cause disruption; to minimize this, Fellows are urged to take note of the change of address, new phone extensions etc, which will be issued in due course.

The Library

The move to Chambers Street, originally scheduled for 1997, has been brought forward to 1996; the President, as promised in his address of 1994, is currently discussing Fellows' rights and study space with the NMS, mindful always that Fellows' right of access is enshrined in the National Heritage (Scotland) Act of 1985.

One copy of a commemorative Plaque for the Library, about which Fellows were notified last year, is to remain in the Queen Street Library; we intend to organize a ceremony to mark the unveiling of this and the end of nearly a century of the Society's use of the Library. A second copy of the plaque will, as requested, accompany the book collection to Chambers Street.

As ever, we are grateful to Mrs Dorothy Laing and her colleagues for the unstinting help they give to Fellows using the Library and its services.

Administration

There has been one change in the Office staff this year: Dr Stuart Campbell, formerly Monograph Administrator and Computer Adviser, has left to take up a post as Lecturer in Near Eastern Archaeology at Manchester University. The various aspects of the Monograph administration will now be dealt with by the Office staff. We welcome Dr Rob Sands who has taken on the task of computer maintenance. We would remind Fellows that all staff work part-time and, although in the office, may not be able to answer a phone extension in another room. Fellows are urged to leave messages on the ansaphone, which will be answered as soon as possible; Fellows are always welcome to visit the office, but are strongly advised to ring ahead.

As ever, aspects of the Office work are considerably eased by the voluntary help provided by Fellows, two of whom must be thanked individually: Mr Maurice Carmichael, who has been of enormous assistance to the Assistant Treasurer in dealing with Fellowship records and subscriptions, and Mr Patrick Ashmore who has taken over the Society typesetting. Thanks are also due to this year's band of envelope fillers: Mr and Mrs Adamson; Mrs L Arnott; Mr M Carmichael; Major & Mrs Cave-Brown; Miss M E Doull; Mrs J Fleming; Mr H G Ford; Mrs S Grossmith; Miss M R Hilton; Mr G A Hutcheson; Mr D Jones; Mrs R Meldrum, Mr R W & Dr J Munro; Mrs B J Murray; Mr J C Parry; Professor M Smallwood; Miss C Sym, and the President.

Finally, thanks are also due to the National Museums of Scotland and to those members of the Museum staff who help with bookings and other arrangements behind the scenes, and especially to Mr Grant MacRae whose services as projectionist at our meetings, seminars and conferences, contributes significantly to the success of the events.

The Treasurer then read the following Treasurer's Report:

The continuing healthy income from subscriptions and investments has made 1994–5 another year of successful financial consolidation for the Society. As the balance sheet shows, the underlying position is sound and, for the first time ever, the total assets of the Society exceed £0.5 million.

To turn first to research, the total amount of grant-aid awarded this year, including the Young Fellows Bursary, was £19,376, compared with £13,536 in 1993–4. In this important area of its activity, the Society continues to reap the benefit of the Dorothy Marshall Bequest, and it is a matter of some pride that, at a time when many other national bodies are cutting back on their grant expenditure, ours has increased, thanks to Miss Marshall. Even so, this year's total was achieved at the expense of a small transfer from the General Fund and a very slight decrease in the Endowment Fund capital, a position which is being carefully monitored.

On the income and expenditure side, it will be readily apparent that the annual surplus is lower than the previous year. Overall income appears as very slightly lower, which is somewhat misleading because of last year's double Deed of Covenant recovery, and in reality shows a reassuring rise in subscription income, coupled with a substantial rise from investments and bank interest. For the healthy position of our investments, I must thank the Bank of Scotland Investment Services, and in particular our advisor Mr Graham Miller. Fellows will recall that it was decided by Council in 1994 to delegate full discretionary management of the Society's investment portfolio to the Bank of Scotland Investment Services, so this is the first year's fruit of this arrangement. It is on the expenditure side that the year-on-year comparison is perhaps invidious. The culprits are various and not necessarily recurrent, as with the Rhind Lectures when expenses were exceptionally required for two speakers rather than one. This aspect will be kept under observation to determine if there are any genuine trends towards increased expenditure in any particular area.

The annual surplus, amounting to £31,061, has again exceeded predictions. Part of the reason for this is continued careful housekeeping by the Society's staff. Commendable restraint has been shown in the management of office costs and in making do with existing equipment. On this matter I should perhaps sound a note of caution. The impending move of office and staff to Chambers Street, which may happen within the Society's next financial year, does have resource implications, and these are being assessed. We shall endeavour wherever possible to retain existing computer equipment, furniture, and so on, through the transfer, but some expenditure on materials and associated costs of leaving Queen Street will be inevitable, and before long new computer hardware and software will be necessary.

While the Society is enormously beholden to Dorothy Marshall, some Fellows may have noticed that no new legacies have been received in the last two years. It was the group of small legacies of three years ago which funded our last upgrade of office equipment, and further bequests for this purpose would indeed be very welcome. Our Fellow, John Cruse, who is the Treasurer of the North-East Section, has presented the Finance and Administration Committee with a working-paper on bequests, and has written on these in your September Newsletter. Legacies, however small, can be immensely useful to the Society, particularly if they are unconditional. Please remember that the Society is a charity, and will always welcome donations and bequests, whatever the size or circumstance. Donations over £250 may be made under the Gift Aid Scheme, which enables the Society to claim an additional one-third from the Inland Revenue under current UK taxation rules.

Once again the Convener of the Finance and Administration Committee, Mr Humphrey Holmes, has guided the Tresorial team, and I am indebted to him and particularly to the Assistant Treasurer, Mrs Maureen McLeod, helped by Mr Maurice Carmichael, for continuing to administer the Society's financial affairs so effectively.

President's Address

In the absence of the Editor, the President reported that Volume 123 of the *Proceedings* had been posted out in the week preceding the 1994 Anniversary Meeting; a copy of Volume 124 was tabled and would be posted out to Fellows imminently. The President then paid tribute to Mr Welfare for his unstituting work in editing

the *Proceedings* for the previous three years; he was resigning the position following his promotion and move to Swindon; he would see through the double Volume 125. Fellows would be able to pay tribute to him at the 1996 Anniversary Meeting.

The President announced that the Robert B K Stevenson Award for the most outstanding paper in the current Proceedings was awarded jointly to Ywonne Hallen and Marion O'Neill for their paper 'The use of bone and antler at Foshigarry and Bhac Mhic Connain, two Iron Age sites on North Uist, Western Isles'. He considered that the scholarship and fine draughtsmanship displayed in the paper would have met with the full approval of R B K Stevenson.

The President then presented the Dorothy Marshall Medal, struck in commemoration of Miss Marshall's most generous bequest to the Society, to Mr Tam Ward for his inestimable work over the last few years; his archaeological work in the Biggar area had involved the whole community and served as a model for all local Societies.

He thanked all those involved in the running of the Society over the last year and expressed his pleasure and pride in acting as President.

The Annual Reports were then adopted on the motion of Miss Naomi Tarrant and seconded by Dr B Crawford, Vice Presidents.

The Ballots

The President announced that the ballot for Council had been successful. The Society owed a great debt of gratitude to the retiring Vice President and to the Councillors, for their hard work over the last three years, not only in Council, but also on the Committees on which they served.

He was delighted to announce the election of Ian Shepherd as Vice-President, and welcomed him and Dr Colleen Batey, Dr Thomas O Clancy, Dr Brendan O'Connor, and Mrs Antoinette Watkins as members of Council.

The election for new Fellows had been entirely successful and he was delighted to welcome 180 new Fellows of the Society.

Council for 1995–6 comprises:	
PRESIDENT:	Gordon S Maxwell, MA FSA
VICE-PRESIDENTS:	Barbara E Crawford, MA PhD FSA Naomi E A Tarrant, BA AMA Ian A G Shepherd, MA FSA MIFA
TREASURER:	Alan Saville, BA FSA MIFA
EDITOR:	Vacant
COUNCILLORS:	Nicholas Dixon, MA PhD Doreen Grove, BA Colin C Richards, BA Neil G Taverner, BDS Valerie E Dean John S Dent, BA MPhil FSA MIFA Jane M S Durham

Michael D King, MA AMA Colleen Batey, BA PhD MIFA Thomas O Clancy, BA PhD Brendan O'Connor, BA DPhil Antoinette Watkins, BA

EX OFFICIO:

Chairman of North East Section Elizabeth Curtis, MA

Publications Convener J N Graham Ritchie, MA PhD FSA

Research Convener Alan Saville, BA FSA MIFA

Finance & Administration Convener Humphrey M Holmes, CA

Heritage Convener Fionna M Ashmore, BA

Representative to the Ancient W David H Sellar, BA LLB FRHistS

Monuments Board of Scotland

Representative of the

National Museums of Scotland

David V Clarke, BA PhD FSA

The Following were elected Fellows:

KENNETH ROBERT AITCHISON, MA, Tighlagan, 3 Grove Farm, Lambley Road, Lowdham, Notts.

ELSPETH ALEXANDER, MA, 3F1, 36 Hillside Crescent, Edinburgh.

NEIL ALLAN, MA LLB, Wellbank, Old Ballater Road, Aboyne, Aberdeenshire.

SYLVIA ROMIG APPLE, BA, 512 West Foster Avenue, State College, PA 16801, U S A.

P GLENN ARMSTRONG, BA, 4835 W 11, Tracy, CA 95376, U S A.

ROBERT MARK ARMSTRONG, 209 Pillow Avenue, Cheswick, PA 15024, U S A.

DR COLIN JOHN BAILEY, BA PhD FSA, Church Cottage, West Byres, Ormiston, East Lothian.

GRAEME JAMES BAIRD, Knoc Ban, Southend, Campbeltown, Argyll.

CHRISTOPHER SCOTT BARROWMAN, BSc, 12 Buckstone Court, Edinburgh.

IRIS VERONICA BARRY, MA, 13 Kirklee Terrace, Glasgow.

ANNIE MITCHELL BETHUNE, MA, 8 Stirling Road, Edinburgh.

DR MICHAEL CHARLES BISHOP, BA PhD, Braemar, Kirkgate, Chirnside, Duns, Berwickshire.

RIGHT REVD MGR HUGH NOONAN BOYLE, PhL STL, St Charles, 1 Kelvinside Gardens, Glasgow.

H. PROF DR HELMUT BRAUNDLE-FALKENSEE OF CAMSTER, MA, A-2340 Modling, Technikerstrasse 30/9, Germany.

DR SHEILA MARGARET BROCK, MA MA PhD, 2 Cobden Road, Edinburgh.

WILLIAM McINTYRE BROOMFIELD, BSc, Kincairn House, Blairs, Aberdeen.

JOHN HALL BROWN, Airlie Cottage, Broadlie Road, Neilston, Glasgow.

MARGARET M M BRUCE, 118 Hamilton Place, Aberdeen.

LT CDR THOMAS ALLEN BRUCE, BA MPA, PO Box 408, Austell, GA 30001-0408, U S A.

SANDY BUCHANAN, BSc, 29A Broughton Place, Edinburgh.

TREVOR CLIVE CAMPBELL, 3 Belfort Street, Stafford Heights, Brisbane, Queensland 4053, Australia.

DR JOHN W CARGILE, BA MScM MScD, 12208 Mt Olive Road, Coker, Al 35452, U S A.

DAVID THOMAS COLLINS, BSc CEng MICE, Carngeal, Almondbank, Perth.

NANCY CONNER, 6420 Frank Ct, Brooksville, Fl 34602, U S A.

GERALD HUBERT COULSON OF KELLY, BA, Kelly Castle, Arbroath, Angus.

DR JAMES COULSTON, School of Greek, Latin and Ancient History, University of St Andrews, St Andrews, Fife.

EILEEN ELIZABETH COX, MA MLitt. Blackhill, Dunkeld, Perthshire.

JAMES CRAWFORD, Tigh Mealros, Garynahine, Isle of Lewis.

MORVEN SHEENA CROSS, MA, Maple Cottage, St Rognvald Street, Kirkwall, Orkney.

FRANCES DEVEREUX, The Institute of Historical Research, Senate House, Malet Street, London.

H PHILLIP VEACH DEXHEIMER, BSC CLU, 13225 'C' Admiral Avenue, Marina Del Rey, CA 90292, U S A.

GEORGE WOODWARD DOUGLASS, BS MD, 1 Brigadier Drive, Charleston, SC 29407, U S A.

JANE DOWNES, Dept of Archaeology, University of Glasgow, 10 The Square, Glasgow.

NICOLA GESINA DRUMMOND, BSc DipTP, 10 Blenheim Place, Aberdeen.

JAMES J DUNBAR, The Lythe, Crimon Mogate, Lonmay, Fraserburgh, Aberdeenshire.

DAVID PEARCE DUNCAN, 25 Norfolk Avenue, Medway, MA 02053-1562, U S A.

JEREMY ANDREW GODFREY DUNCAN, MA, 10 Kincarrathie Crescent, Perth.

THE DOWAGER COUNTESS OF ENNISKILLEN, BA, Kinloch House, Amulree, Dunkeld, Perthshire.

JAMES FRANKLIN ERSKINE, 157 Oak Grove Pkwy, Oroville, CA 95966, U S A.

DAVID JAMES ETHERIDGE, BA MPhil, Flat 1/6, 17 Stewartville Street, Glasgow.

DR ROBERT ALLISON FARQUHAR, BS MS PhD, Rd.1., Box 299A, Perryopolis, PA 15473, U S A.

PENNY L FEUSTEL-WEIGEL, 665 Elm Grove, Elm Grove, WI 53122-2515, U S A.

DAVID JOSEPH FIELD, 2 West Nolands, Yatesbury, Wiltshire.

ANDREW FISHER, BA MA, Drumlanrig Castle, Thornhill, Dumfriesshire.

JAMES GORDON RICHARD FITZGERALD, OStJ CD, 6203 Capilano Crescent, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

STUART EWING FLEMING, The Learing, Kirkton of Balmerino, Fife.

JANE MARY FLETCHER, MA, 3F3, 128 Duke Street, Edinburgh.

ROBERT WILLIAM FRASER, JD, 1536 East Washington Ave, Santa Ana, CA 92701, U S A.

JAMES C GAMMON, AB, PO Box 347, Newfoundland, NJ 07435, U S A.

PETER CHARLES GLANCY, MA PGDipLib, 46 (Gf4) Albion Road, Edinburgh.

MICHAEL HAMISH GLEN, FTS MSIBH MIPR, 7 Dean Park Crescent, Edinburgh.

DR VIRGINIA GLENN, BA PhD, 37 Great King Street, Edinburgh.

DONALD GORDON, MA MEd FCIS, Cockleroi, Newstead, Melrose.

DOUGLAS ROBERT CAMPBELL GORDON, 9 Richmond Drive, Rutherglen, Glasgow.

ROBERT GORDON, 9 Richmond Drive, Rutherglen, Glasgow.

JAMES GRACIE, 84 Juniper Avenue, Greenhills, East Kilbride.

ALAN WALTER GRAHAM, BA, Silverdale, 16 Bowfield Road, West Kilbride, Ayrshire.

ROBERT C GRAY, DipTP B.LD MRTPI ALI, 98 Burns Road, Aberdeen.

ALEXANDER GUSTAU CORBYN HALE, BA, 2F2, 19 Panmure Place, Edinburgh.

MATILDA MARY HALL, MA, Laidlaws, Spottiswood, Gordon, Berwickshire.

IAN STUART GRANT HALLIDAY, MA MPhil, 2/R, 132 West Princes St, Glasgow.

IAN HARKNESS, 18 Fernielaw Avenue, Edinburgh.

AILSA KATHERINE HARRIS, MA, 2nd Floor Right, 33 Guthrie Street, Edinburgh.

PROFESSOR COLIN CLIFF HASELGROVE, BSc MA PhD, Department of Archaeology, 46 Saddler Street, Durham.

ALEXANDER HAY, JR, AB, 153 Old Gannett Road, North Scituate, MA 02066-1203, U S A.

CARIEL FRANKLIN HENDERSON, JR, AA, 240 Huckleberry Road, Jackson, Alabama 36545, U S A.

BRIG GEN JEFFERSON S HENDERSON, II, USAF (Ret) BA MA, 8710 Cross Chase Circle, Fairfax Station, VA 22039, U S A.

ELIZABETH P HENRY, AB JD, 5 East 93rd Street, New York, NY 10128, U S A.

JAY HEYWOOD, BA MA, 60 Bath Street, Portobello, Edinburgh.

JEAN HIRST, BA DipSW, 72 Northumberland Street, Edinburgh.

FRANCES ANNETTE HIXENBAUGH, 2962 East 45th Place, Tulsa, OK 74105, U S A.

DAVID JAMES HOGARTH, MA LLB, 14 Graystane Road, Invergowrie, Dundee.

MICHAEL OWEN HOLDER, 2 Eppingham Close, The Chase, Thetford, Norfolk.

MARK WILLIAM HOLLEY, BA, Old High School Yards, Infirmary Street, Edinburgh.

DR RUPERT ANDREW HOUSLEY, Dept of Archaeology, University of Glasgow, 10 The Square, Glasgow.

BRUCE WILLIAM HOWARD, BA, 95 Craigleith Road, Edinburgh.

LIEUTENANT COMMANDER KAI HUGHES, RN BA, Holly Bank Farm, Clotton, Tarporley, Cheshire.

JAMES MALLOCH HUNTER, MusB DipMusEd RSAM LRAM ARCM, 44 Station Road, Bearsden, Glasgow.

MARGARET MARY JAKUSZ, MA, 35 Mournian Way, Low Water Park, Hamilton.

GRAY DESMOND JAMIESON, 38 Doment Crescent, Orewa, Hibiscus Coast, Auckland, New Zealand.

KRAIG NELSON JOHNSON, BA MIM JD, 509 North Hampton Avenue, Orlando, Fl 32803, U S A.

LAURENCE JOHN KEEN, MPhil FSA FRHistS MIFA, 7 Church Street, Dorchester, Dorset.

JOHN KENNY, LRAM ARAM, 69 Spottiswoode Street, Edinburgh.

RAYMOND S KIDD, BEM BA, 97 Lee Crescent North, Bridge of Don, Aberdeen.

ROBERT KING, 109 Leslie Campbell Ave, Buie's Creek, NC 27506-0247, U S A.

SUSAN KING, MA, 9405 Marsh Point Court, Gaithersburg, Maryland 20882, U S A.

ROBERT KYLE, Flat 31, Finch Court, St Anns Street, Birkenhead, Merseyside.

DR LAMOND LAING, BA MSc PhD ARIAS, Dept of Architecture & Building Science, University of Strathclyde, 131 Rotten Row, Glasgow.

CHARLES ALAN LAMB, BA MA, 1413 S.E. Mill, Roseburg, OR 97470, U S A.

CHRISTOPHER GRAY LAMBERTON, BA, 812 Parkcenter Drive, #41, Santa Ana, CA 92705, U S A.

ANNE PASCHALL LANDIN, 1690 Plainfield Church Rd, Siler City, NC 27344, U S A.

DR ROBERT LEIGHTON, MA PhD, 5 South East Circus Place, Edinburgh.

MATTHEW ANTONY LEIVERS, BA, 115 Honeysuckle Road, Swaythling, Southampton.

DR LORAYNE W LESTER, BS AM PhD, 125-E Durwood Road, Knoxville, TN 37922, U S A.

TERRENCE SCOTT LEVINTHAL, BES DipUD, 5 Bellevue Street, Edinburgh.

KIRSTY LINGSTADT, MA, 7 Livingstone Place, Edinburgh.

DEBORAH LIVINGSTON, AOCA, 88 Wells Street, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

EDWARD R LEWELLIN, PO Box 352, World Trade Centre, Melbourne, Victoria 3005, Australia.

DUNCAN CHARLES McARA, SBStJ DipPub, 30 Craighall Crescent, Edinburgh.

JAMES EDWARD MOIR MACARTHUR OF MILTON, 14 Hillpark Wood, Edinburgh.

CHRISTOPHER DAVID MACBRIDE, 23 Westfield Gardens, Westhill, Skene, Aberdeen.

DR ALAN ROSS MACDONALD, MA PhD, Dept of Scottish History, University of Edinburgh, 17 Buccleuch Place, Edinburgh.

DUNCAN MACDONALD, UE, 268 Bartholomew Street, Brockville, Ontario, Canada.

LESLEY MACLEOD, BA CertEd LTCL, Ljothus, 3 King Street, Kirkwall, Orkney.

DAVID JOHN McDONALD, 171 Windover Turn, Lancaster, PA 17601, U S A.

FRANCIS ROSS McDONALD, CD UE, Rr#1, Pefferlaw, Ontario, Canada.

L ROSS McINTOSH, BA MA, 4613 Hwy 280 E, Birmingham, Ala 35242, U S A.

ELIZABETH LEONARD BUTLER McINTYRE, 11 Cadzow Drive, Cambuslang, Glasgow.

ROBERT McINTYRE, 11 Cadzow Drive, Cambuslang, Glasgow.

ROBERT BRUCE McINTYRE, 2609 South Dogwood Avenue, Broken Arrow, Oklahoma 74012, U S A.

DR DAVID ALEXANDER THOMSON MACKIE, BSc MA PhD, 8 Queen Street, Stirling.

LT COL CHARLES LOCKHART McLENDON, BS, 6160 Martha's Glen Road, Columbia, SC 29209, U S A.

DONALD WILLIAM McLEOD, 27B Fox Meadow Road, Leominster, MA 01453, U S A.

DR NEIL STEWART McLEOD, BDS LDS RCS DDS, 9201 Sunset Blvd. #715, Los Angeles, Ca 90060, U S A.

RALPH McMILLAN, BA, 10824 Orion Avenue, Mission Hills, CA 91345, USA.

STEVEN McRAE, Clach-Mhuilinn, Cowhill, Balmedie, Aberdeenshire.

FERGUSON WILSON MEEK, MA, 7 East Champanyie, Edinburgh.

NIGEL DUNCAN MELTON, MPhil, 50 Oakleigh View, Baildon, Shipley, West Yorks.

STEPHEN DONALD MILLER, 78 Old Town, Peebles.

WILLIAM KINNEAR MILNE, BSc AMA, Mill of Elrick, Auchnagatt, Ellon, Aberdeenshire.

CHARLES DAVIDSON MITCHELL, 250 Holiday Road, Lexington, Kentucky 40502, U S A.

AVRIL MOFFATT, Henderson's Knowe, Teviothead, Hawick, Roxburghshire.

JAMES DAVID DUFFTON MOIR, 32 Mortimer Drive, Hazlehead, Aberdeen.

ISOBEL FERGUSON MONAHAN, MA, Carradale, 5 Auldlea Road, Beith, Ayrshire.

CHARLES RUSSELL MORE, 17 Links Place, Port Seton, East Lothian.

ALISOUN MORTON, MA MLitt LGSM AMusLCM, 6 Dryden Place, Edinburgh.

TERENCE FREDERICK STANLEY MULLALY, BA MA, Waterside House, Lower Street, Pulborough, West Sussex.

DR JAMES McCASH MURDOCH, FRCPE FRCPG, 16 Braehead Drive, Edinburgh.

BOBBY JOE NEELEY, AB MA PhD, Falconhurst Institute, PO Box 26165, San Jose, CA 95159, U S A.

DR JAMES DOUGLAS NICHOLSON, AH.WC MSc PhD, 12 Buckstone Crescent, Edinburgh.

KAREN MACLEOD O'KEEFE, BA MA, 9A Bellevue Crescent, Edinburgh.

MARION DUNLOP O'NEIL, MA. Dip FINE ART, 96 Halbeath Road, Dumfermline, Fife.

DR RODERICK RUTHVEN MACKENZIE PAISLEY, LLB DLP PhD ALCM, 409 Crathie Gardens East, Hardgate, Aberdeen.

JOHN HENRY ANGELL PARSONS, 183 Pype Hayes Road, Erdington, Birmingham.

DR MICHAEL GEORGE PARKER PEARSON, BA PhD, Dept of Archaeology, University of Sheffield, Sheffield.

DELMUND ALLSOPP PENNEY, 2 Southall Avenue, Claines, Worcester,

RICHARD GARVIN PETERSON, BSc. 72 Redwing Lane, Norton, Stockton-on-Tees.

ROBERT PITT-KELLY, Akros House, 398 Prospecthill Road, Mount Florida, Glasgow.

DR MURRAY G H PITTOCK, MA DPhil FRHistS, Department of English Literature, University of Edinburgh, David Hume Tower, Edinburgh.

ELIZABETH PRINGLE, 10 Piershill Place, Edinburgh.

WILLIAM JAMES RAMSAY, Dalvina, Main Street, Kyle, Ross-shire.

JAMES PHILIP RIBIAT-FINLEY, BFA, 255 North Agusta Avenue, Camarillo, CA 93010-3113, U S A.

CAROLINE ANN RICHARDSON, BA MA MLitt, Corner House, Aiketgate, Armathwaite, Cumbria.

PROFESSOR IAN ROCHE, 21 Woolmead Avenue, West Hendon, London.

DOREEN JEANNETTE ROBERTSON, 34 Ash-Hill Road, Aberdeen.

RONALD JOHN ROBERTSON, White Lodge, Fochabers, Moray,

DR JOHN ROTHERHAM, GRNCM PhD FMus FCSM FNSCM PGCE FRSA, Sothams Barn, Peaks Lane, Stonesfield, Oxon.

ELIZE ROWAN, MSc, Top Flat Right, 21 Gardner's Crescent, Edinburgh.

DAVID BRIAN ROWE, BA, 3318 Highview Drive, Hubertus, WI 53033, U S A.

ALLAN GAVIN RUTHERFORD, MA MPhil, Flat 2R, 132 West Princes Street, Glasgow.

GEORGE ALEXANDER SAID-ZAMMIT, BA MA FDUS, Alba Longa, Tal-Orogq Street, Msida Msd 04,

DR ROBERT J S SANDS, c/o Dept of Archaeology, University of Edinburgh, 16-20 George Square, Edinburgh.

GEOFFREY B SCOTT, MB ChB FRCPath, Seaview House, Loirston Road, Cove Bay, Aberdeen.

STEPHEN WILLIAM SCREECH, BA, Notre Dame 2, 2013 Colombier, Switzerland.

MICHAEL SHAW, 513 Goodwin Drive, Richardson, Texas 75081, U S A.

WILLIAM GEORGE ANDREW SHAW, BA, Wester Crathienaird, 150 Mt Olympus Drive S.W. Issaquah, Wa 98027, U S A.

DAVID SIBLEY, Glebe House, Beech Row, Fyvie, Turriff.

IAIN M SINCLAIR, MA, 4 Douglas Row, Kyle, Ross-shire.

ANN SKIPPER, 1736 N. Beverly Drive, Beverly Hills, CA 90210, USA.

DR STEFAN DANIEL SLATER, MD FRCP FRCP, 42 Glencairn Drive, Glasgow.

HARRIET VICTORIA SLAUGHTER, 90 Prospect Avenue, Maywood, NJ 07607, U S A.

FRANK SNOW, 8 Newmains Road, Renfrew.

DR CHARLTON SUMNER STANLEY, BS MEd PhD, 4 River Bend Place, Suite 210-A, Jackson, MS 39208-9737, USA.

ALWYN AUBREY ROY STEPHENS, FSA, 7 Murray Court, Banbury Road, Oxford.

THE REVD RONALD JOHN MAXWELL STITT, LTh ThM BAEd DMin, Old Parish Manse, Port Seton.

BLAIR CHARLES STONIER, 102 St Pauls Road, Ardmore, PA 19003-2811, U S A.

IRENE R STRACHAN, West Balquhain, Inverurie, Aberdeenshire.

WILLIAM STRACHAN, BSc, West Balquhain, Inverurie, Aberdeenshire.

MICHAEL SCOTT SWISHER, OStJ BA, 14511 Olinda Bvd North, Stillwater, MN 55082, U S A.

VICKI ELLEN SZABO, BA MA, Medieval Studies Program, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14853, U S A.

DAVID SCOTT THOMSON, MA LLB, 15 Weber Street, East Brighton, Victoria 3187, Australia.

GORDON SIMPSON TOLLING, 4 Maple Terrace, Greenhills, East Kilbride.

PERRY GEORGE WALKER, 933 W Idewild Drive, Evansville, In 47710, U S A. SHEILA SINCLAIR WARSOP, MA, 55 Spottiswoode Road, Edinburgh. SARAH MARGARET WHITE, 95D Esslemont House, Hillhead Halls, Don Street, Aberdeen. J C WHITTAKER, MA, Flat 7, 15 Cowgatehead, Edinburgh. ISABEL JEAN TEMPLETON WILSON, MA, 2 Segton Avenue, Kilwinning, Ayrshire. DR JOAN MOWBRAY WILSON, MB ChB MRCGP, 11 Mayfield Terrace, Edinburgh, ALICIA L WISE, BA, Dept of Archaeological Sciences, University of Bradford, Bradford. DAVID ROBERT WOOTEN, BA, 105 Brighton Court, Sherwood, Arkansas 72116, U S A.

The Roll

The record of the deaths of the following Fellows intimated during the year 1994-5 was not read at the meeting:

	Elected
Honorary Fellow	
Professor Eric Birley, MBE MA FSA, Carvoran House, Greenhead, Carlisle, Cumbria	1932
Fellows	
W J Boxall, 62 Ochiltree Crescent, Midcalder, West Lothian	1955
Dr Alan James Bruford, BA PhD, South Mains, West Linton, Peeblesshire	1991
Revd T Gemmell Campbell, c/o The Manse of Mearns, Newton Mearns, Glasgow	1953
George F Collie, Morkeu, Cults, Aberdeenshire	1947
Edwin Stuart Falconer, CStJ JP MA, 68 Bruntsfield Place, Edinburgh	1967
Mrs Frances Sheena Linzee Gordon of Cluny, Cluny Castle, Sauchen, Inverurie, Aberdeenshire	1991
John Hereford Howard, 620 Diablo Drive, Claremont, CA 91711, USA	1991
Dr Andrew George Martynoga, MB BS MRCP, Kirkbride House, Traquair, Innerleithen,	
Peeblesshire	1982
Bryan Nutter, ACP FRSA, 21 Taywood Close, Poulton-le-Fylde	1967
G J O'Brien, The Nest, Jedburgh, Roxburghshire	1994
John Buchanan Rankin, BL, 2 Belgrave Crescent, Edinburgh	1965
The Very Revd Selby Wright, CVO DD FRSE TD, The Queen's House, 36 Moray Place,	
Edinburgh	1938
Mrs Eugenia Callander Sharp, BA MA, 3 Fairwind Lane, Yarmouth, Maine 04096, USA	1972
Kenneth Brown Stewart, MPS, 35 Belvedere Street, Aberdeen	1974
Miss Margaret Wilson Walker, Blairneuk, Cupar, Fife	1971
Kenneth Wellesley, 125 Trinity Road, Edinburgh	1984
Professor Cedric William Malcolm Wilson, MD BSc PhD MA ScD FIBiol FRCPE FRSE,	
11 Mayfield Terrace, Edinburgh	1990

The President then welcomed and introduced Mr Andrew Martin who read the following Communication: 'Thomas Philipe's Legacy: 200 years of the Museum Library'.

A Reception for Fellows then followed in the Bird Hall.

Instructions for Contributors to these *Proceedings*

Papers and shorter notes are invited on all aspects of the archaeology and history of Scotland. Prospective contributors are urged to consult the Editor as early as possible in the preparation of their work.

In order to be considered for the next annual volume of these *Proceedings*, completed typescripts and illustrations must arrive no later than 30 November and must be accompanied by a Submission Form, available on request from The Editor, The Society of Antiquaries of Scotland, The National Museums of Scotland, York Buildings, Queen Street, Edinburgh EH2 1JD.

Contributions (two copies) must be typed on one side of A4 paper, with double spacing throughout (including notes and references), wide margins and full pagination. The hard copy should be accompanied by a disk; this can significantly reduce costs and errors. The operating system (DOS, Apple etc) and the software used should be clearly marked on the disk, together with the author's name and an abbreviated title. Word or Wordperfect are preferred; alternatively, an ASCII or TEXT copy would be appreciated.

Papers will be acceptable only if they are submitted in their *final* form. Drafts will not be considered. The Society does not accept responsibility for the safety of texts, disks, and illustrations submitted. Contributors are urged to keep an exact copy of each item.

Each paper should be preceded by an Abstract of no more than 200 words.

The Society has ended its use of microfiche. Contributors are advised to consider carefully whether extensive tables, specialists' data, and appendices should appear in print or whether, alternatively, these should be archived in an appropriate and accessible public archive.

Authors are responsible for obtaining written permission for the reproduction of copyright material and for paying any fees due. The appropriate acknowledgement must be given. Those considering the redrawing or reproduction of portions of Ordnance Survey maps must consult the OS Copyright section.

Authors will be sent one set of proofs only; authors will bear the cost of any significant or substantial changes to the text at proof stage.

Authors are entitled to 24 free offprints of their paper. More copies can be ordered at proof stage.

At or before submission, each author should advise the Editor if their paper may attract a grant for publication. Authors are urged to make every effort to obtain such a grant from an appropriate source, which should be acknowledged, suitably, in the Abstract and in the Introduction to each paper.

STYLE

Contributors must ensure that the text, the illustrations, and the references all conform to the style of the latest volume of these *Proceedings*; failure to do so will lead to the rejection or referral of the paper.

Headings within the text should be restricted to a hierarchy of no more than three grades. These should be clearly indicated in the margin of the typescript (A, B, C).

Dimensions shall be given in metric units (eg 1 km, 6 m, 48 mm). Please note the spacing.

As a general guide, millimetres should be used as the unit where the original measurement has been made in millimetres; for larger sizes and distances use metres. Centimetres should not be used (except in environmental studies, in which their use has become standard). Imperial units may be quoted from earlier sources but the metric equivalents must also be given (in brackets).

Radiocarbon dates should be cited in their uncalibrated form, with the error at one standard deviation (eg 1530±70 BC uncal), with full details of their laboratory reference numbers. The international convention BP should not be used by itself. Any calibration exercise must be fully explained and referenced.

A National Grid Reference must be given for each archaeological site or historic building that it central to the content of a paper.

Footnotes will not be used, but numbered notes that expand on points that would lie uncomfortably in the text may be listed at the end of the article.

REFERENCES

The Harvard system (author, date, page), set within the text, is preferred and should always be used when the majority of the references are to published books or articles. Numbered end-notes may, however, be used for articles on historical topics in which the references are predominantly to documentary material. Every manuscript referred to must be given its full reference number, assigned by its repository, including the folio or page number.

In either system, standard historical reference works may be referred to by their abbreviated titles (eg Acts Parl Scot), in the form given in the supplement to the Scottish Historical Review, 42 (1963). All such abbreviations must be expanded in the list of references that must be set out at the end of each article, whichever system is used. Abbreviations of journals should conform to the style listed in Signposts for Archaeological Publication (3rd edn 1991), published by the Council for British Archaeology, to the style of the British Archaeological Bibliography, or to the list in Scott Hist Rev, 42 (1963). The names of foreign journals should be given in full.

Examples of the correct form of each reference system may be found in volume 118, pages 285–7 (running notes), and volume 119, pages 27–31, 223–36 (Harvard).

ILLUSTRATIONS

Line drawings and photographs must be of the highest quality and must be submitted in their final form, in the correct proportion for reduction within the maximum space available: 190 x 140 mm. (It would greatly assist the Editor if those who are able to do so would submit reduced versions of their drawings initially.) Titles should not be within a drawing but should be included in the caption, for which an allowance of space must be made. Because of their expense, fold-outs will not be accepted unless prior permission has been given. A metric scale must be included on each drawing. Areas to be cropped from photographs should be indicated on a transparent overlay. Particular care must be taken to ensure clarity and legibility after reduction, especially that of lettering.

Sub-standard illustrations will certainly be returned for revision; a paper with poor illustrations may not be accepted for publication.

All illustrations within an article, whether drawings or photographs, will be numbered in sequence, eg illus 5. Captions should be printed in a list separate from the text.